# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY E. BRANNON,

Petitioner,

VS. : CASE NO. SC01-1538

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_:

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE

#### <u>MERITS</u>

I PRELIMINARY

#### STATEMENT

Johnny E. Brannon was the defendant in the trial court, and the appellant before the First District Court of Appeal.

Brannon v. State 791 So.2d 1154 (Fla. 1st DCA July 10, 2001) (op. on motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc or certifica-tion).

The original one-volume record on appeal was missing a few pages. It was replaced with another one-volume record, which will be referred to as "R."

# II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Johnnie E. Brannon, was charged by information filed October 15, 1998, in Taylor County, with two counts each of possession of cocaine with intent to sell and sale, one incident allegedly occurred July 16, 1998, the other August 21, 1998 (R 3).

March 22, 1999, the state filed notice of intention to seek habitual offender sentencing (R 37).

April 8, 1999, Brannon pleaded guilty to one count each of possession with intent to sell and sale (R 82), and was placed on 4 years drug offender probation, with a condition that he serve 18 months in a "jailbed program," concurrent, with credit for time served of 215 days (R 43-46). He was also ordered to perform 100 hours community service work and pay various court costs, fees and a public defender lien; he had a curfew and his driver's license was revoked for 2 years. Brannon was adjudged an habitual offender (R 45).

His presumptive guidelines sentence was 71.2 months, with a range of 53.4 to 89 months prison (5.93 years, with a range of 4.45 to 7.4 years) (R 47-50). Brannon signed a written offer of plea, which included "agree that the state can seek habitual offender status" (R 39). The state nolprossed Counts I and II (R 40).

An affidavit of violation of probation was filed September 23, 1999, alleging Brannon failed to file one monthly report; changed his residence and employment without knowledge or con-sent of probation officer, and his address was unknown; tested positive for and admitted cocaine use on two occasions and marijuana use once; failed to show at an appointment for drug/ alcohol evaluation; failed to make payments (R 55).

October 14, 1999, Brannon pleaded no contest/admitted the violations (R 103-04). The trial court sentenced him to 15 years in prison, concurrent, as an habitual offender, with credit for time served of 237 days (R 64-70). Another guide-lines scoresheet was prepared, showing a presumptive sentence of 77.2 months, with a range of 57.9 to 96.5 months (6.43 years, with a range of 4.825 to 8.04 years)(R 72-73). The court entered a written revocation order (R 119).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R 120).

Another case will affect the court's decision in this case: February 20, 2001, the First District Court decided Harvey v. State, 786 So.2d 28 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). Harvey raised a Heggs, infra, issue for the first time on appeal, without having filed in the trial court a motion to correct sentencing error under Rule 3.800(b)(2), Florida Rules of Crim-inal Procedure. The district court relied upon Maddox, infra, and held Harvey had failed to preserve his single-subject argu-ment under Heggs because neither trial nor

appellate counsel sought relief in the trial court under Rule 3.800(b).

Harvey moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certifi-cation, and the state moved for clarification. May 1, 2001, the district court denied rehearing, but certified the follow-ing as questions of great public importance:

WHETHER THE CONCEPT OF FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR, AS DISCUSSED IN MADDOX V. STATE, 760 SO.2D 89 (FLA. 2000), APPLIES TO DEFENDANTS WHO COULD HAVE AVAILED THEMSELVES OF THE PROCEDURAL MECHANISM OF THE MOST RECENT AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(B) SET FORTH IN AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.111(E) AND 3.800 AND FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.020(H), 9.140, AND 9.600, 761 SO.2D 1015 (FLA. 1999)?

#### and

WHETHER AN APPELLANT IN THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, WHO COULD HAVE AVAILED HIMSELF OF THE PROCE-DURAL MECHANISM OF THE MOST RECENT AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(B) SET FORTH IN AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.111(E) AND 3.800 AND FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.020(H), 9.140, AND 9.600, 761 SO.2D 1015 (FLA. 1999), HAD AN OBLIGATION TO RAISE HIS SINGLE SUBJECT CHALLENGE TO THE 1995 SENTENCING GUIDELINES IN THE TRIAL COURT, DESPITE THE EXISTENCE OF ADVERSE PRECEDENT IN TRAPP V. STATE, 736 SO.2D 736 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1999), IN ORDER TO LATER OBTAIN APPELLATE RELIEF BASED ON HEGGS V. STATE, 759 SO. 2D 620 (FLA. 2000)?

<u>Id.</u> This court has ordered briefs on the merits in <u>Harvey</u>, which is pending a decision on jurisdiction in this court.

March 19, 2001, while rehearing in <u>Harvey</u> was pending in the district court, that court decided the instant case. The court held the sentencing error was unpreserved, and the court did not reach the merits because the appeal fell

outside the <u>Maddox</u> window, citing <u>Harvey</u> and <u>Reese v. State</u>, 763 So.2d 537 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000). <u>Brannon</u>, <u>supra</u>.

Brannon moved for rehearing. He argued that before Mad-dox, the sentencing errors in his case were held to be funda-mental. Insofar as Maddox set out a new standard for raising fundamental sentencing errors in the trial court, he could not be held to a standard set out for the first time in Maddox, because his initial brief had been filed before Maddox was decided. The First District interpreted this as an argument that Maddox should be applied prospectively only, and held that only this court had the authority to make that decision:

[Brannon] further argues that, even if the court adheres to its <u>Harvey</u> decision, and [<u>Maddox</u>] articu-lated a policy that all sentencing errors should be raised in a [Rule] 3.800(b)(2) motion, <u>Maddox</u> should be given prospective effect only. Further, [Brannon] argues that, since his initial brief was filed before the Florida Supreme Court decided <u>Maddox</u>, this court is not precluded from ruling on his unpreserved fundamental sentencing errors. We do not agree.

We do not have the authority to apply <u>Maddox</u> only in a prospective manner. The Florida Supreme Court has the "sole power" to determine whether its deci-sion should be prospective or retroactive in effect. (cites omitted)

However, we clarify our prior opinion. . .to make it clear that, because [Brannon]'s initial brief was filed after the close of the window period provided for in Maddox, we do not reach the merits of either of the unpreserved sentencing errors raised by appel-lant. While [Brannon]'s principle contention. . . concerned the trial court's alleged error in sen-tencing him as a habitual offender after he violated his probation, [he] also argued that the trial court committed fundamental error by imposing a habitual offender

sentence for [his] conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to sell. <u>See State v.</u>

<u>McKnight</u>, 764 So.2d 574 (Fla.2000)(affirming this court's decision that it could correct as fundamental error McKnight's 10-year habitual felony offender sentence for possession of cocaine noting this error was "correctable during the window period discussed in <u>Maddox</u>.").

791 So.2d at 1155-56. The court then certified two questions.

The first was identical to the first question certified in <a href="Harvey">Harvey</a>. The second was:

WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT PREVIOUSLY RULED THAT A SENTENCING ISSUE IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, THE INITIAL BRIEF WAS FILED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF RULE 3.800(B)(2), FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, BUT BEFORE THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT DECIDED MADDOX V. STATE, DOES MADDOX PRECLUDE THE DISTRICT COURT FROM RULING ON THE ISSUE AS A MATTER OF FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

Notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed July 16, 2001.

#### ARGUMENT

Issue I: The first question certified by the court below concerns whether the doctrine of fundamental sentencing error, where such an error can be corrected for the first time on appeal, still applies after Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) was modified effective November 11, 1999. Petitioner argues the answer to the question is "yes." Maddox was expressly limited to cases where the initial briefs were filed prior to November 11, 1999, thus the language pertaining to a "window period" is mere dicta. The Criminal Appeal Reform Act specifically recognizes the doctrine of fundamental error and does not distinguish between trial and sentencing error. Thus, properly understood, Maddox does not support the district court's opinion in Harvey.

The Court's authority to regulate "practice and procedure" does not allow it to abrogate substantive rights granted by both the constitution and the legislature. Even if it were the intent of the court in Maddox to totally eliminate the doctrine of fundamental sentencing error, and the Court had authority to do so pursuant to its obligation to regulate "practice and procedure," the concept of fair notice embodied within the Due Process Clause requires that the "window" remain open until the date Maddox was decided, May 11, 2000.

Issue II: Petitioner was entitled to rely on precedential cases from the First District that held his sentencing issues were fundamental error which could be raised for the first time on direct appeal. His initial brief was filed before Maddox was decided. Assuming arguendo that Maddox requires funda-mental sentencing errors to be raised on a 3.800(b)(2) motion, although there was no express holding to that effect, peti-tioner could not comply with a rule from a case which did not exist at the time he filed his initial brief.

Issue III: On the merits, the sentencing errors are that the trial court imposed an habitual offender sentence for pos-session of cocaine, although it is statutorily excluded from habitual offender sentencing, and that the trial court impro-perly sentenced Brannon as an habitual offender for the first time on violation of probation.

## ISSUE I - CERTIFIED QUESTION

WHETHER THE CONCEPT OF FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR, AS DISCUSSED IN MADDOX V. STATE, 760 SO. 2D 89 (FLA. 2000), APPLIES TO DEFENDANT WHO COULD HAVE AVAILED THEMSELVES OF THE PROCEDURAL MECHANISM OF THE MOST RECENT AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(B) SET FORTH IN AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.111(E) AND 3.800 AND FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.020(H), 9.140, AND 9.600, 761 SO. 2D 1015 (FLA. 1999)?

Petitioner contends that the answer to the above question, the first of two certified by the district court in <u>Harvey</u> and his own case is "yes". The standard of review is *de novo*.

In <u>Maddox</u>, the Court was construing the effect the Crimi-nal Appeal Reform Act, section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), had upon various types of unpreserved sentencing errors. The Court ruled in <u>Maddox</u> that an unpreserved sentencing error can be corrected as fundamental error for the first time on direct appeal where the error is "both patent and serious." 760 So.2d at 99.

In <u>Harvey</u>, the district court recognized the defendant's 9-year sentence was imposed pursuant to a scoresheet prepared under the 1995 guidelines. Under <u>Heggs</u>, however, Harvey was entitled to be resentenced pursuant to the 1994 guidelines. Harvey's 9-year sentence was an upward departure from the 1994 guidelines without the required written reasons. <u>Maddox</u> determined this to be a fundamental sentencing error. 760 So.2d at 106-108. Moreover, <u>Heggs</u>

itself deems the error fundamental. <u>Accord</u>, <u>State v.</u> <u>Johnson</u>, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993).

Without question, the sentencing error in Harvey's case is "fundamental" under <u>Heggs</u>, <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Maddox</u>. The sentencing errors in Brannon's case here are also fundamental, but because they are not as brief as <u>Harvey</u>'s <u>Heggs</u> issue, the substantive argument on the sentencing errors is presented in <u>Issue III</u>, rather than here. In any event, the First District did not decide the sentencing issues on the merits.

The issue posed by the first certified question is whether even fundamental sentencing errors must be first presented to the trial court pursuant to Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure in cases where the first appellate brief was filed on or after November 12, 1999, the date the Court issued its decision in Amendments To Florida Rules Of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) And 3.800 And Florida Rules Of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.600, 761 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2000)("Amendments II"). The first appellate brief in this case was filed April 10, 2000, before Maddox was decided.

Petitioner asserts the doctrine of fundamental sentencing error as defined in <a href="Maddox">Maddox</a>, permitting such error to be corrected for the first time on appeal, has survived the establishment of the right to file a motion in the trial court pursuant to Florida Rule Of Criminal Procedure

3.800(b)(2) prior to the filing of the first brief.

First of all, nothing in the <u>Amendments II</u> opinion itself suggests in the slightest that fundamental sentencing errors must always be raised via Rule 3.800(b)(2).

Second, <u>Maddox</u> itself recognizes that the doctrine of "fundamental error" has survived the Criminal Appeal Reform Act; indeed, it is expressly referenced in the statutory language:

Section 924.051(3) specifically gives defendants the right to raise, and appellate courts the authority to correct, "fundamental error." The Act neither de-fines "fundamental error" nor differentiates between trial and sentencing error. It is certainly reason-able to assume that, rather than attempting to alter the definition of fundamental error as it evolved through case law, the Legislature intentionally deferred to the judicially created definition of "fundamental error."

760 So.2d at 95.

Maddox expressly recognizes that "fundamental error" applies to both trial and sentencing errors and even the Appeal Reform Act allows parties to raise, and the courts to correct, fundamental errors. Maddox certainly does not hold that, after the date of Amendments II, a party must first raise fundamental sentencing errors in the trial court.

In point of fact, the Court in Maddox observed:

In this opinion we address *only* the question of whether unpreserved sentencing errors should be corrected in those noncapital criminal appeals filed in the window period between the effective date of the Act and the effective date of our recent amend-ment to rule 3.800(b)....

760 So.2d at 95, note 4 (emphasis supplied).

Thus, with all due respect to the Court, petitioner argues that to the extent certain language in <a href="Maddox">Maddox</a> appears to con-cern cases where the initial brief was filed after <a href="Amendments II">Amendments II</a> was decided November 12, 1999, that language is mere dicta.

Petitioner contends that <u>Maddox</u>, properly understood, means that, even subsequent to <u>Amendments II</u>, any type of error can be raised for the first time on appeal if fundamental, whe-ther the error be fundamental trial or fundamental sentencing error.

To rule otherwise would effectively amend Section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996) as follows:

An appeal may not be taken from a judgment or order of a trial court unless a prejudicial error is alleged or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental [trial] error. A judgment or sen-tence may be reversed on appeal only when an appel-late court determines after a review of the complete record that prejudicial error occurred and was pro-perly preserved in the trial court or, if not proper-ly preserved, would constitute fundamental [trial] error.

(emphasis supplied). The bracketed, emphasized language above illustrates how the district court's <u>Harvey</u> decision has amended the statute. The judiciary simply does not have the constitutional authority to effect such an amendment.

The right of a citizen of Florida to appeal in a criminal case is grounded in the Florida Constitution; a citizen has a constitutional right to appeal in a criminal case. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 696 So. 2d 1103, 1105 (Fla. 1996)("Amendments I").

The legislature is empowered to enact "substantive law," which is that part of the law which creates, defines, and regulates rights, or that part of law which courts are established to administer, and it includes those rules and principles which fix and declare the primary rights of individuals. Haven Federal Savings & Loan Associ-ation v. Kirian, 579 So.2d 730 (Fla. 1991). The Court's constitutional authority to regulate "practice and procedure" does not allow the Court to abrogate or modify substantive law. State v. Garcia, 229 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1969) and Julian v. Lee, 473 So.2d 736 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

Here, the legislature has defined the parameters of the constitutional right to appeal by enacting the substantive law known as the Criminal Appeal Reform Act. As Maddox itself recognizes, the Act does not eliminate the doctrine of funda-mental sentencing error and the courts have the power to cor-rect such errors. With all due respect, the Court's authority to regulate practice and procedure does not give it the power to unilaterally do away with the doctrine of fundamental sen-tencing error and declare that even fundamental sentencing errors must be first raised via the changes to Rule 3.800(b)(2) made in Amendments II.

Thus, to the extent dicta in <u>Maddox</u> tends to support what the district court has done in <u>Harvey</u>, such dicta simply cannot be squared with the separation of powers principles of the Florida Constitution.

Even if the dicta in Maddox was intended to be construed in the manner the First District interpreted it in Harvey, petitioner contends the window period should be deemed to remain open until May 11, 2000, the date Maddox was decided, rather than November 12, 1999, the date Amendments II was decided. This is required by the "fair notice" aspects of the Due Process Clause of both the state and federal constitutions. Rogers v. Tennessee 532 U.S. 451, 121 S.Ct. 1693, 149 L.Ed.2d 697 (2001) and Bouie v. City Of Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 84 S.Ct. 1697, 12 L.Ed.2d 894 (1964).

In both <u>Bouie</u> and <u>Rogers</u>, it was held that judicial abrogation of a legal doctrine by an appellate court decision violates the "fair warning" principle of the Due Process Clause and may not be given retroactive effect where it is unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct at issue.

Here, nothing in either the Act or Amendments II placed the bench and bar on notice that fundamental sentencing errors could not be corrected on direct appeal, but must instead be always raised under Rule 3.800(b)(2), especially since funda-mental error was expressly referenced in the Act. At best, this did not occur until Maddox was decided May 11, 2000, with its language concerning a "window period," which was after petitioner in this case raised fundamental sentencing errors in the district court. It is

also noteworthy that in <a href="Harvey">Harvey</a>, the state conceded error in the district court.

In Florida, the proposition that appellate courts have the authority to correct fundamental sentencing errors for the first time on direct appeal goes back to at *least* to the 1959 decision of the Court in <u>Stanford v. State</u>, 110 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1959)(dissenting opinion). In 1965, the Court in <u>Dallas v. Wainwright</u>, 175 So.2d 785 (Fla. 1965), held that where the defendant received a 30-year sentence where the statutory maximum was 20 years, it would be corrected via habeas corpus due to "fundamental error appearing on the face of the sentence which renders it void." *Id*.

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