IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY E. BRANNON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC01-1538

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

TRISHA E. MEGGS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
<u>ISSUE I</u>
WHETHER THE CONCEPT OF FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR, AS DISCUSSED IN MADDOX V. STATE, 760 SO.2D 89(FLA. 2000), APPLIES TO DEFENDANTS WHO COULD HAVE AVAILED THEMSELVES OF THE PROCEDURAL MECHANISM OF THE MOST RECENT AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(B) SET FORTH IN AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.111(E) AND 3.800 AND FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.020(H), 9.140 AND 9.600, 761 SO.2D 1015 (FLA. 1999)? 6
<u>ISSUE II</u>
WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT PREVIOUSLY RULED THAT A SENTENCING ISSUE IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, THE INITIAL BRIEF WAS FILED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF RULE 3.800(B)(2), FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, BUT BEFORE THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT DECIDED MADDOX V. STATE, DOES MADDOX PRECLUDE THE DISTRICT COURT FROM RULING ON THE ISSUE AS A MATTER OF FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?
<u>ISSUE III</u>
DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY SENTENCING PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER AFTER HE VIOLATED HIS PROBATION AND BY IMPOSING HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE FOR PETITIONER'S CONVICTION FOR POSSESSION OF COCAINE WITH INTENT TO SALE WHICH WAS CONCURRENT TO HIS OTHER SENTENCE? (Restate
CONCLUSION
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 18

CERTIFICATE	OF	COMPLIANCE			•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		18
APPENDIX														

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So. 2d 1103 (Fla.1996)
Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.,600, 761 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2000) passim
<u>Brannon v. State</u> , 791 So. 2d 1154 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001) 17,19
<u>Crocker v. Pleasant</u> , 778 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 2001) 11
<u>Goodwin v. State</u> , 634 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1994) 11
<u>King v. State</u> , 681 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 1996) 14,15
<u>Maddox v. State</u> , 708 So. 2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) 6
<u>Maddox v. State</u> , 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000) passim
<u>McKnight v. State</u> , 616 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1993) 14
Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp. v. Ballard, 749 So. 2d 483 (Fla. 1999)
<u>Salters v. State</u> , 758 So. 2d 667 (Fla. 2000)
<u>Spencer v. State</u> , 739 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) 15,16
<pre>Welling v. State, 748 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), rev. denied, 770 So. 2d 163 (Fla. 2000)</pre>
FLORIDA STATUTES
§ 775.084(1), Fla. Stat. (1997)
<u>OTHER</u>
Fla. R. App. P. 9.210
Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) passim



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Johnny E. Brannon, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of one volume, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Question one ask whether the concept of fundamental sentencing error applies to defendants who could have filed motions to correct his or her sentence pursuant Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) up until the time the initial brief was filed in the defendant's direct appeal. Question one is ambiguous in that Maddox held that fundamental sentencing error could be raised for the first time on appeal until such time as amended rule 3.800(b) went into effect on 12 November 1999. Brannon's initial brief was filed well after amended rule 3.800(b) went into effect so the state reads Maddox as requiring that he raise any sentencing claim in the trial court.

Furthermore, question one appears to erroneously assume that this Court's <u>Maddox</u> decision either eliminated the concept of fundamental sentencing error or created some new form of fundamental sentencing error. It did neither. Grounded on the analysis of Chief Judge Griffin in the Fifth district's <u>Maddox</u> decision, this Court simply recognized that it was difficult to consistently identify fundamental sentencing error, and pointlessness to try to do so when **all** sentencing errors could be easily addressed in the trial court using the rules adopted on 12 November 1999 by <u>Amendments</u>. This Court simply held that after 12 November 1999, when amended rule 3.800(b) and companion rules became effective, **all** claims of sentencing error, whether fundamental or otherwise, must be raised in the trial court by

either (1) contemporaneous objection, or (2) motion filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) prior to the filing of the initial brief. This can be see more clearly if the Fifth District decision in Maddox is read in para materia. Judge Griffin would have enforced this requirement from the initial promulgation of rule 3.800(b) in 1996 whereas this Court held that the requirement should not become effective until amended rule 3.800(b) went into effect on 12 November 1999.

The <u>Maddox</u> holding was reiterated in <u>Salters</u> where this Court held that even claims that a statute violated the single subject rule, which had formerly been cognizable on appeal for the first time, henceforth had to be first raised in the trial court. Thus, question one has already been answered yes in <u>Maddox</u> and <u>Salters</u> and countless other cases.

ISSUE II

Question two asks if a defendant may raise an issue which the District Court had previously determined to be fundamental if the initial brief was filed before this Court issued its opinion in Maddox but after this Court had amended Rule 3.800(b) giving the defendant the opportunity to file a Motion to Correct Sentence in the trial court up until the time the initial brief was filed. This Court, in Maddox, has already answered the certified question by holding that the courts may only correct unpreserved fundamental sentencing errors for those defendant's whose initial briefs were filed before this Court amended Rule 3.800(b) in Amendments II. Thus, regardless of whether or not

the district court had held that an error was fundamental, if the defendant had the procedural mechanism of the amended Rule 3.800(b) available to him or her, but failed to file a Motion to Correct Sentence, the issue could not be addressed on the merits on direct appeal.

ISSUE III

Petitioner argues that this Court erred by sentencing him as a habitual offender. However, because this issue is beyond scope of the certified question and the First District did not rule on the merits of petitioner's claims, this Court should decline to address this issue on appeal. Nevertheless, even if this Court did address petitioner's claims, he would not be entitled to relief.

Petitioner was convicted of the sale of cocaine and possession of cocaine with the intent to sale, and the trial court sentenced him as a habitual offender to two concurrent fifteen-year prison sentences. (I.64-70). Petitioner argues that the trial court could not habitualize him for his possession of cocaine with intent to sale conviction. Because petitioner did not preserve this issue for appellate review and because the error has no effect on the length of time he will serve, this issue is not cognizable on appeal.

Petitioner also argues that the trial court erred by sentencing him as a habitual offender upon the revocation of his probation. The habitual offender sanction was proper because the trial court had originally found that petitioner was a

habitual offender rather than merely qualified as a habitual offender. The Court may sentence a habitual offender to probation. Accordingly, petitioner's original sentence to the jail bed program was a valid habitual offender sentence, and the petitioner's fifteen-year habitual offender sentence upon the revocation of his probation was appropriate.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE CONCEPT OF FUNDAMENTAL SENTENCING ERROR, AS DISCUSSED IN MADDOX V. STATE, 760 SO.2D 89(FLA. 2000), APPLIES TO DEFENDANTS WHO COULD HAVE AVAILED THEMSELVES OF THE PROCEDURAL MECHANISM OF THE MOST RECENT AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.800(B) SET FORTH IN AMENDMENTS TO FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.111(E) AND 3.800 AND FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.020(H), 9.140 AND 9.600, 761 SO.2D 1015 (FLA. 1999)?

The concept of fundamental sentencing error does not apply to defendants who could have filed a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) as provided for in Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.,600, 761 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2000)(hereinafter Amendments II).

Standard of Review

The issue before this Court is a legal issue which is reviewed de novo.

Argument

The certified question is grounded on a misunderstanding of this Court's decision in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 89 (Fla. 2000) where this Court approved in large part the decision of the Fifth District in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). This Court did not eliminate or materially change the

¹ This precise question is pending before this Court in <u>Harvey v. State</u>, Case No. SC01-1139.

concept of fundamental sentencing error. Adopting in large part the analysis of Chief Judge Griffin in the district court, this Court held that in future cases where briefing occurred after this Court's adoption of amended appellate and criminal rules in Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111(e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.,600, 761 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 2000), that all claims of sentencing errors must be first raised in the trial court, either contemporaneously or by amended rule 3.800(b). This holding did not eliminate the concept of fundamental error, it simply provided a fail safe remedy under which all sentencing errors had to be first raised in the trial court. This was an appropriate exercise of this Court's authority to promulgate rules of procedure for judicial proceedings.

The <u>Maddox</u> holding was reiterated by the subsequent decision in <u>Salters v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 667, 668 fn 4 (Fla. 2000) where this Court held that defendant/petitioners "who have available the procedural mechanism of our recently amended rule 3.800(b) [are required] in the future [to] raise a single subject rule challenge in the trial court prior to filing the first appellate brief."

Accordingly, the answer to the first certified question is that Brannon was required to first raise his claim of fundamental sentencing error in the trial court.

ISSUE II

WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT PREVIOUSLY RULED THAT A SENTENCING ISSUE IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, THE INITIAL BRIEF WAS FILED AFTER THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF RULE 3.800(B)(2), FLORIDA RULE OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, BUT BEFORE THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT DECIDED MADDOX V. STATE, DOES MADDOX PRECLUDE THE DISTRICT COURT FROM RULING ON THE ISSUE AS A MATTER OF FUNDAMENTAL ERROR?

This Court's decision in <u>Maddox</u> precludes merits review of a sentencing issue, even when the district court had previously ruled it was fundamental error, when the initial brief was filed after the effective date of <u>Amendments II</u> but before this Court's decision in Maddox became final.

Standard of Review

The issue before this Court is a legal issue which is reviewed de novo.

Argument

In Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103, 1104 (Fla.1996)(hereinafter Amendments I), this Court adopted Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) to allow criminal defendants to file a motion to correct sentencing errors thirty days after sentencing. This Court adopted rule 3.800(b) "to accomplish two purposes. First, [the Court] intended to provide defendants with a mechanism to correct errors the trial sentencing in court at the earliest opportunity, especially when the error resulted from a written judgment and sentence that was entered after the pronouncement of sentence. Second, [the Court] intended to give

defendants a means to preserve these errors for appellate review." Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.111 (e) and 3.800 and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.020(h), 9.140, and 9.600, 761 So.2d 1015, 1016 (Fla. 1999). Subsequently, this Court amended Rule 3.800(b) to allow a motion to correct a sentencing error to be filed in the trial court up until the first appellate brief was filed. Id. at 1018. The amendment to Rule 3.800(b) became effective immediately. Id. at 1020.

In <u>Maddox</u>, this Court addressed the issue of whether unpreserved sentencing issues could be raised on direct appeal, and provided a window period in which unpreserved sentencing issues could be raised. This Court stated:

Thus, we conclude that for those defendants who did not have the benefit of our recently promulgated amendment to rule 3.800(b) in Amendments II, during this window period the appellate courts should continue to correct unpreserved sentencing errors that constitute fundamental error. To hold otherwise would neither advance judicial efficiency nor further the interests of justice. However, for those defendants who had available the procedural mechanism of our recently amended rule 3.800(b), we anticipate that the interests of justice should be served by the ability of appellate counsel to first raise the issue in the trial court prior to filing the first appellate brief.

Maddox v. State, 760 So.2d 89,98 (Fla. 2000)(emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court, in Maddox, has already answered the certified question by holding that the courts may only correct unpreserved fundamental sentencing errors for those defendant's whose initial briefs were filed before this Court amended Rule 3.800(b) in Amendments II. Thus, regardless of whether or not

the district court had held that an error was fundamental, if the defendant had the procedural mechanism of the amended Rule 3.800(b) available to him or her, but did not raise the issue in the trial court or file a Rule 3.800(b) motion, the issue could not be addressed on the merits on direct appeal.

ISSUE III

DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY SENTENCING PETITIONER AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER AFTER HE VIOLATED HIS PROBATION AND BY IMPOSING HABITUAL OFFENDER SENTENCE FOR PETITIONER'S CONVICTION FOR POSSESSION OF COCAINE WITH INTENT TO SALE WHICH WAS CONCURRENT TO HIS OTHER SENTENCE? (Restated)

Petitioner contends that the trial court erred by imposing a habitual offender sentence for his possession of cocaine with intent to sale conviction and by imposing the habitual offender sentence upon petitioner's violation of probation.

Standard of Review

Whether the trial court could sentence petitioner as a habitual offender is a question of law which is subject to the de novo standard of review.

Preservation

Petitioner's claims are beyond the scope of the certified questions, and the First District did not rule on the merits of these claims. Therefore, this Court should decline to address these issues. Crocker v. Pleasant, 778 So. 2d 978, 990-991 (Fla. 2001)(declining to address issues raised by the parties which were beyond the scope of the certified question and were not discussed in the District Court's opinion); Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp. v. Ballard, 749 So. 2d 483, 490 n.7 (Fla. 1999)("We decline to address Owens-Corning's second issue on appeal, that of forum nonconveniens, as it is beyond the scope of the certified question in this case."); Goodwin v. State, 634 So. 2d 157 (Fla. 1994)("We decline to address the other

issues raised by the parties, which lie beyond the scope of the certified question.").

Furthermore, petitioner did not preserve these issues for appellate review because petitioner did not object to his habitual offender sentence in the trial court below or file a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b) motion. Therefore, petitioner is not entitled to appellate review.

Nevertheless, in abundance of caution, the State will address appellate's claims.

Argument

A. <u>Petitioner's habitual offender sentence for his conviction for possession of cocaine with intent</u> to sell.

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